# IS THERE AN INTERACTION BETWEEN H<sub>2</sub>-ANTAGONISTS AND ALCOHOL?

### Alan G. Fraser

Department of Medicine, University of Auckland, Private Bag 92019, Auckland, New Zealand.

#### CONTENTS

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Alcohol Absorption and Metabolism
- 3. First-pass Metabolism: Gastric or Hepatic?
- 4. Inhibition of Gastric ADH by H2-Receptor Antagonists
- 5. Clinical Studies
  - 5.1 Study design
  - 5.2 Higher dose studies (0.5-1.5 g/kg of alcohol)
  - 5.3 Low dose studies (0.15-0.3 g/kg of alcohol)
- 6. Psychomotor Performance
- 7. What is the Explanation for the Positive Studies at 0.15 g/kg of Alcohol?
- 8. Conclusion

References

#### **SUMMARY**

H<sub>2</sub>-antagonists are commonly prescribed drugs and alcohol use is widespread in the community. Any possible interaction may be important because of the frequent co-administration of both drugs and the potential for unexpected impairment of pyschomotor function, in particular, driving skills. Hepatic ADH is the major site of alcohol metabolism. ADH is also found in the stomach, but it is uncertain whether gastric ADH is able to metabolise a significant amount of alcohol in vivo. Significant first-pass metabolism can be demonstrated at lower doses of alcohol, and if alcohol is given after meals. Varying degrees of extraction of alcohol from the portal circulation probably explains the data regarding first pass metabolism rather than gastric metabolism by gastric ADH. H2-receptor antagonists inhibit gastric ADH activity to a variable extent. If gastric metabolism of alcohol is negligible then this inhibition has no relevance. Given the uncertainty regarding a mechanism of interaction, only carefully conducted studies in controlled environments will answer the question. The large intersubject variability of alcohol absorption means that any study which seeks to determine the effect of an H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonist on ethanol metabolism must have sufficient numbers. A cross-over design, with each subject acting as his own control, is preferable to avoid ascribing an effect to treatment rather than to chance.

The alcohol dosing studies are reviewed and the results summarised according to dose of alcohol given. At a dose of 0.15 g/kg of alcohol, four commonly used H<sub>2</sub>-antagonists may cause a small increase in blood alcohol concentrations in certain conditions. This absolute increase is very small. The magnitude of effect is far less than the effect of taking a meal before alcohol. At doses of 0.3 g/kg and above the majority of evidence favours no interaction between H<sub>2</sub>-antagonists and alcohol. There is no interaction at doses that would be expected to impair psychomotor skills (above 25 mg/dl). There remains a question regarding the cumulative effect of repeated small doses of alcohol and further studies are required.

The relationship between ethanol absorption and gastric emptying raises the possibility that the effects of H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists observed at very low doses of alcohol may be due to the acceleration of gastric emptying by these drugs. This is an attractive hypothesis that

explains many aspects of the debate, but studies of the effect of H<sub>2</sub>-antagonists on gastric emptying have been conflicting.

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

The frequent use of alcohol together with H<sub>2</sub>-antagonists gives any pharmacokinetic interaction potential clinical significance. ['Alcohol' is used in this manuscript but refers only to ethanol.] The interactions between drugs and alcohol can be studied in many different settings. Acute ingestion studies with younger healthy volunteers are the most frequent study design. This is easy to perform, but may have some limitations when applied to more general situations. Acute ingestion studies are often quite different from the manner in which alcohol is usually consumed. Chronic ingestion studies can detect important effects from the induction of hepatic enzymes. Some studies have attempted to reproduce a situation more akin to social drinking.

There is considerable inter- and intra-individual variability of alcohol bioavailability /1-3/. One study compared alcohol given after a meal and in the fasted state. The coefficient of variation for AUC (area under the plasma ethanol time curve) for inter-subject variability was 44% (fed) and 21% (fasted) and the coefficient of variation for AUC for intra-subject variability was 35% (fed) and 22% (fasted) /2/. Intra-subject variability is probably determined by the day-to-day variation in gastrointestinal function - particularly gastric emptying, intestinal transit time and portal blood flow /4/. Significant inter- and intra-subject variability in gastric emptying has been demonstrated even with a strictly standardised protocol of meals /5/. Small variations in the composition of the meal can have very significant effects on alcohol absorption, which can make post-prandial studies more difficult to perform /6-7/.

The implication of the large inter-subject variability is that any study which seeks to determine the effect of an H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonist on alcohol metabolism must have sufficient numbers. A cross-over design with each subject acting as his own control is preferable, to avoid ascribing an effect to treatment rather than to chance because of the great inter-individual variability.

#### 2. ALCOHOL ABSORPTION AND METABOLISM

A description of normal alcohol absorption and metabolism is necessary to understand any potential interaction. Alcohol metabolism appears to follow Michaelis-Menton kinetics at low doses and first order kinetics at higher doses /8/. The liver is the site of the majority of alcohol metabolism and hepatic alcohol dehydrogenase is the enzyme primarily responsible for this process /8-10/; its activity (as measured in vitro) does not appear to decline with age /11/. Other enzymes, in particular the microsomal ethanol-oxidising system (involving the microsomal cytochrome CYP2E1 [P450IIE1]), are also involved at higher doses of ethanol and may metabolise up to 10% of the ingested alcohol /9,12,13/. This enzyme is involved in metabolism of numerous substrates (both endogenous and exogenous) but alcohol (ethanol) is the substrate of most clinical importance. Enzyme induction of cytochrome CYP2E1 occurs after prolonged heavy alcohol intake whereas acute binge drinking is likely to cause inhibition of this enzyme group by direct competition for binding with cvtochrome CYP2E1 /13/.

Gastric emptying has a marked effect on absorption of most drugs because it governs the access of the drug to the main absorptive surface, the small intestine. A slower rate of delivery of alcohol to the small intestine increases the effectiveness of portal extraction of alcohol. The area under the plasma ethanol concentration-time curve has been shown to correlate closely with the half-time emptying of liquids from the stomach /14/. Faster gastric emptying gives rise to higher blood alcohol concentrations, and vice-versa. Drinks with a high alcohol concentration delay gastric emptying /15-17/. This explains the observation that blood alcohol concentrations are lower after drinking whisky than after drinking the same amount of alcohol as beer /18/.

Gastric emptying may be delayed in alcoholics and gastrointestinal transit may also be altered /19/. Drugs which increase gastric emptying, such as metoclopramide, erythromycin or cisapride, increase the bioavailability of ethanol /20-22/, and drugs which delay gastric emptying will decrease the bioavailability of ethanol /22/. Intravenous erythromycin increased blood alcohol concentration after a meal by 40% /21/. Smoking also increases the rate of gastric emptying. A randomised crossover study showed that smoking caused a 20%

increase in peak blood alcohol concentrations /23/. Readers are referred to an excellent review of the effect of drugs on gastro-intestinal motility /24/. An increased rate of delivery of ethanol to the small intestine is likely to be the reason for the increased bio-availability of ethanol after intra-duodenal instillation of alcohol and in patients who have had a gastrectomy /25/.

#### 3. FIRST-PASS METABOLISM: GASTRIC OR HEPATIC?

First pass metabolism of alcohol is estimated by the difference in bioavailability of ethanol after intravenous or oral administration. This may be between 0-75% for individuals when alcohol is taken after a meal /26-28/. The difference decreases with an increasing dose of alcohol. The apparent difference depends on the methodology of the study. A slower rate of intravenous infusion will give a blood alcohol-time profile very similar to oral dosing /29/. First pass metabolism is also virtually absent in the fasting state /28/.

There is a continuing debate on the role of gastric alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH) in the first-pass metabolism of alcohol /29-31/. This hypothesis forms the basis of a proposed interaction between alcohol and H2-receptor antagonists. The presence of a gastric alcohol dehydrogenase has been known for some time. The gastric ADH appears to be a separate form of ADH with distinct kinetic properties: three isoenzymes have been detected in the human stomach /32-36/. Total gastric ADH activity is very difficult to measure because of the quite different affinities of the three isoenzymes. There are some racial differences in the isoenzymes present. Eighty percent of Japanese patients lack one of the isoenzymes; however blood alcohol concentrations after oral dosing appear to be similar to those of Caucasians /37-39/. The relevance of any ethnic differences in enzyme activity (both gastric and hepatic ADH) is still debatable. There are also conflicting data on differences in gastric ADH activity with gender /40-42/. A lower ADH activity in females has been suggested as an explanation for gender differences in blood alcohol concentrations after oral dosing, although other factors such as differences in volume of distribution are equally plausible /31,43,44/. Alcoholics have a reduced gastric ADH activity, which is not surprising given the inhibitory effect of heavy ethanol intake on other enzyme systems and the potential for gastric mucosal damage with ethanol /28,40/. Gastric ADH activity

decreases with age /40/. Many elderly patients have atrophic gastritis and as a consequence will have lower gastric ADH levels. Two clinical studies have shown lower gastric ADH levels in patients with atrophic gastritis. However patients with atrophic gastritis did not have higher blood ethanol concentrations compared to patients with normal gastric mucosa and normal gastric ADH activity /45,46/. Gastric ADH activity is decreased in the presence of *H. pylori* infection /47/. Eradication of *H. pylori* increases gastric ADH activity but ethanol first pass metabolism is unchanged /48/.

The existence of gastric alcohol dehydrogenase is not disputed but the hypothesis that the enzyme has sufficient opportunity and ability to metabolise significant amounts of ethanol is in question. Orally ingested ethanol, when taken after a meal, is only in contact with the stomach for approximately one hour. The activity of the stomach ADH is 100 times less than that of the liver ADH. Moreno and Pares predicted from their data that the total activity of human stomach ADH would be able to metabolise only 1.2 mmol/l of ethanol/h, about 0.25% of the ethanol ingested in a 0.3 g/kg dosing study /49/. Advocates of a significant gastric component to alcohol metabolism present very different calculations /31/. Levitt has reviewed these calculations and finds many flaws, drawing similar conclusions to Moreno and Pares /30/. Experimental data have shown that there is no arterial to venous gradient for acetaldehyde in the rat stomach suggesting that there is negligible metabolism of ethanol in the stomach /50/.

The observed difference between systemic and oral dosing may be due to varying efficacy of extraction of alcohol from the liver. Pharmacokinetic modelling has suggested that the difference between equivalent intravenous and oral doses of ethanol can be explained by varying portal extraction depending on the different rate of delivery of ethanol to the liver with oral and intravenous dosing /51,52/. The same observations have been made in the comparison of bioavailability of propanolol in standard or slow-release preparations /53/. It is interesting that food increases the clearance of ethanol given by intravenous infusion by 60%. The mechanism for this may be due to varying efficacy of extraction of alcohol from the liver /54/.

# 4. INHIBITION OF GASTRIC ADH BY H2-RECEPTOR ANTAGONISTS

In vitro evidence of inhibition of gastric alcohol dehydrogenase by H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists has been shown in several studies /55-57/. For these in vitro observations to be relevant to the proposed in vivo interaction, it must be assumed that a similar concentration of H2receptor antagonist is present in the cytosol of the cell with the gastric ADH. Studies with radiolabelled H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists show that some accumulation of this class of drugs does occur in the gastric mucosa /55/. Inhibition in vitro is most significant for cimetidine, then ranitidine, and virtually absent for famotidine. The conclusion from these in vitro studies was that therapeutic doses of ranitidine and cimetidine should cause significant effects in vivo, but that the effect of nizatidine and famotidine would be negligible /56/. Recent studies with gastric mucosal cells in culture have confirmed that alcohol metabolism can occur but this in vitro model is much removed from the in vivo situation. In this study, there was a 59% reduction in gastric ADH activity by cimetidine but no inhibition by ranitidine. Famotidine and nizatidine were not tested /58/.

#### 5. CLINICAL STUDIES

## 5.1 Study design

The interpretation of the volunteer studies is crucial to the debate. If there is no clear mechanism for the proposed interaction then only carefully conducted studies in controlled environments will answer the question. The issue of gastric metabolism and decreased first pass metabolism clouds the debate. Some investigators have stated that only studies that perform intravenous dosing as well as oral dosing are relevant. In fact, if the mechanism of the proposed interaction is unclear, then the only real issue at stake is whether peak alcohol concentrations change with concurrent use of H<sub>2</sub>-antaganist, and if so, is there any impairment of pyschomotor performance. Some investigators have excluded subjects who do not demonstrate any significant first pass metabolism. Such a protocol is based on an assumption regarding the mechanism of drug interaction with alcohol (which may be flawed). Given the data on variability of oral absorption, the observed first pass metabolism calculated from dosing

| A summar                | y of all | studies           | of H <sub>2</sub> -a | ntagoni            | A summary of all studies of H <sub>2</sub> -antagonists and alcohol sorted by the dose of alcohol given | l sorted   | by the dos  | e of alcoho | l given     |
|-------------------------|----------|-------------------|----------------------|--------------------|---|------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|
| Ref                     | Dose Mea | Меа               | Trial<br>type        | Trial Time<br>type | Drug  | (n)        | Contro      | Treated Sig | Sig         |
|                         |          |                   |                      |                    |   |            |             |             |             |
| Brown 59)               | 0.15     | Fed               | ဟ                    | MD                 | Ranitidine  | 59         | 10.0        | 21.0        | p = 0.03    |
|                         | 0.15     | Fed               | ဟ                    | MD                 | Ranitidine  | 9          | 7.0         | 16.9        | NS (p=0.06) |
| Burnham' <sup>60)</sup> | 0.15     | Fed               | <b>x</b>             | Σ                  | Famotidine  | 24         | 7.5         | 9.5         | p < 0.01    |
| Bye <sup>(31)</sup>     | 0.15     | Fed               | <u>×</u>             | Σ                  | Ranitidine  | 24         | 13.3        | 15.9        | p < 0.03    |
| Cabuller'a 62           | 0.15     | Fed               | တ                    | Σ                  | Cimetid ne  | 9          | <b>26.4</b> | :≈10°0.     | Ϋ́Z         |
| Clenimes an 63)         | 0.15     | Fas:              | တ                    | ۰.                 | Cimetidine  | <u>N</u> 9 | 15.2        | 15.2        | NS          |
|                         |          |                   |                      |                    |   | <b>6F</b>  | 19.8        | 23.5        | NS          |
| Cook 64                 | 0.15     | Fas:              | PG                   | Σ                  | Cirnetidine   |            |             |             |             |
|                         |          |                   |                      |                    | Social  | 2          | 17.2        | 20.4        | NS          |
|                         |          |                   |                      |                    | Heavy   | 9          | 16.9        | 28.7        | NS          |
| Frase (63)              | 0.15     | Fed               | <u>×</u>             | ш                  | Ranitidine  | 20         | 4.92        | 6.47        | p<0.05      |
| Pa'mer <sup>(36)</sup>  | 0.15     | Fed               | 8                    |                    | Ran tidine  |            |             |             |             |
|                         |          |                   |                      | Σ                  | Breaktas!   | 24         | 8.2         | 12.1        | p<2.0003    |
|                         |          |                   |                      | ш                  | Dirner  | 23         | 8.6         | 10.6        | NS          |
|                         | 0.15     | Fed               | õ                    | ш                  | Cimetidine  | 23         | 8.6         | 8.8         | NS          |
|                         | 0.15     | Fed               | 2                    | Σ                  | Nzaiidine   | .24        | 8.3         | 12.8        | b < 0.0005  |
| Gupta <sup>(67)</sup>   | 0.15*    | Fed               | S                    | Σ                  | C'me id'ne  | 20         | 27          | 39          | p < 0.01    |
|                         | (x4 ove  | (x4 ove: 135m ns) | ns)                  |                    |   |            |             |             |             |

| Amir(68)                 | 0.3      | Fed  | တ      | ш  | Ranitidine  | <b>∞</b> | 22   | 59   | p < 0.02 |
|--------------------------|----------|------|--------|----|-------------|----------|------|------|----------|
| Bye. <sup>61)</sup>      | 0.3      | Fed  | 8      | Σ  | Ranitidine  | 24       | 33.8 | 33.0 | SN       |
| Casini <sup>(69)</sup>   | 0.3      | Fed  | တ      | MD | Ranitidine  | 80       | 21.2 | 24.4 | NS       |
|                          |          |      |        |    | Famotidine  | ۵        | 18.4 | 19.8 | NS       |
| Di Padova 70)            | 0.3      | Fed  | တ      | Σ  | Ranitidine  | 80       | 32   | 42   | p < 0.1  |
|                          |          |      | တ      | Σ  | Cimetidine  | 9        | 30   | 22   | p < 0.1  |
| Frase (71)               | 0.3      | Fed  | P.G    | ш  | Ramtidine   | 12       | 25,4 | 25.0 | SN       |
|                          |          |      | PG     | ш  | Cime lid ne | 12       | 22.7 | 23.4 | SN       |
|                          |          |      | 9<br>S | ш  | Famolidine  | 12       | 26.0 | 23.5 | SN       |
| Fraser <sup>(72)</sup>   | <u>د</u> | Fed  | 8      | Σ  | Ran tidine  | 20       | 18   | 21   | NS       |
| Holtz nann (73)          | ≈0.3     | Fas  | BG     | ۰. | Cimetid'ne  | 9        | ≈33  | ≈32  | NS       |
|                          |          |      |        |    | Famolidine  | 9        | ≈35  | ≈35  | NS       |
| Mallat <sup>(37)</sup>   | 0.3      | Fed  | 8      | Σ  | Ranitidine  | 12       | 30   | 30   | NS       |
|                          |          |      |        |    | Cime!id'ne  | 12       | 30   | 27   | NS       |
|                          |          |      |        |    | Famotidine  | 12       | 30   | 99   | NS       |
| Raufmann <sup>(74)</sup> | 0.3      | Fed  | 8      | Σ  | Ranitidine  | 23       | 13.5 | 14.1 | NS       |
|                          |          |      |        |    | Cimetidine  | 23       | 13.5 | 4    | NS       |
| Sharm: (75)              | 0.3      | Fed  | ഗ      | ш  | Cimetidine  | =        | 19.8 | 27.1 | p < 0.05 |
| Teyse ₁ <sup>(76)</sup>  | ≈0.3     | Fasí | 8      | ш  | Famotidine  | 9        | ∞19  | ≈20  | S        |

CABLE 1 con

| Ref                   | Dose   | Dose Meal       | Trial<br>type | Trial Time<br>type | Drug       | (u)          | Control | Control Treated Sig | Sig |
|-----------------------|--------|-----------------|---------------|--------------------|------------|--------------|---------|---------------------|-----|
|                       |        |                 |               |                    |            |              |         |                     |     |
| Brown <sup>(77)</sup> | 9.0    | Fed             | 8             | ш                  | Ranitidine | 23           | 33.1    | 30.1                | SN  |
|                       | X3 0V6 | x3 over 60 min) | <u>-</u>      |                    | Cimetidine | 23           | 33.1    | 35 2                | NS  |
| B .e <sup>(61)</sup>  | 9.0    | Fed             | 8             | Σ                  | Ranitidine | 24           | 99.98   | 87.7                | SN  |
| C emmesen 63          | 0.45   | Fast            | S             | ~                  | Cimet dine | <b>W</b> 9   | 53.0    | 54.0                | SN  |
|                       |        |                 |               |                    |            | 9F           | 58.1    | 53.0                | NS  |
| Dauncey 78)           | ∞0.5   | Fed             | 8             | Σ                  | Ranitidine | 10           | 22      | 49                  | SN  |
|                       |        | Fas             | 8             | Σ                  | Ranitidine | 9            | 22      | 29                  | SN  |
| F:ase (79)            | 9.0    | Fed             | 8             | ш                  | Ran tid ne | 24           | 53.8    | 57.9                | NS  |
| Kleine 80)            | 0.5    | Fed             | 8             | ш                  | Ranitidine |              |         |                     |     |
|                       |        |                 |               |                    | 150mg bd   | 16           | 15.3    | 4                   | NS  |
|                       |        |                 |               |                    | 300mg bd   | 16           | 15.3    | 15.5                | NS  |
| Toon <sup>'81)</sup>  | 0.5    | Fed             | 8             |                    | Ranitidine |              |         |                     |     |
|                       |        |                 |               | Σ                  | Breakfast  | 18           | 43.7    | 46.4                | NS  |
|                       |        |                 |               | Q                  | Lunch      | <del>8</del> | 45.4    | 48.7                | SN  |
|                       |        |                 |               | ш                  | Dinner     | 8            | 41.3    | 43.8                | NS  |
|                       |        | Fas             | 8             |                    | Ran tid ne |              |         |                     |     |
|                       |        |                 |               | Σ                  | Breakfast  | 18           | 80.8    | 76.4                | NS  |
|                       |        |                 |               | Φ                  | Linch      | 8            | 746     | 69                  | NS  |
|                       |        |                 |               | ш                  | Dinner     | 18           | 59.1    | 64.1                | SS  |

| Dob:illa <sup>(82)</sup> | 8.0  | Fast | 8      |    | Ranitidine  | 9  | ∞80   | ≈74   | NS        |
|--------------------------|------|------|--------|----|-------------|----|-------|-------|-----------|
|                          |      |      |        |    | Cimelidine  | 9  | ∞80   | ∞90   | NS        |
| Feely <sup>(83)</sup>    | 8.0  | Fast | О      | Σ  | Cimelidine  | 9  | 146   | 163   | p < 0.05  |
| Frase (84)               | 8.0  | Fed  | PG     | ш  | Ranitidine  | 16 | 87    | 87    | NS.       |
|                          |      |      |        |    | Cimelidine  | 16 | 87    | 88    | NS        |
|                          |      |      |        |    | Famolidine  | 16 | 87    | 84    | NS        |
| Guram <sup>(85)</sup>    | 0.75 | Fed  | 0<br>X | ш  | Ranitidine  | 9  | 9/    | 8     | NS        |
|                          |      |      |        |    | Cimelidine  | 9  | 76    | 9     | p < 0.002 |
|                          |      |      |        |    | Famolid ne  | 9  | 76    | 75.9  | NS        |
|                          |      |      |        |    | Nizalidine  | 9  | 9/    | 90.3  | p < 0.02  |
| Jonsson (96)             | 8.0  | Fast | 8      | Σ  | Ranitidine  | 12 | 105.0 | 103.2 | NS        |
|                          |      |      |        |    | Cimelidine  | 12 | 105.0 | 100.9 | NS        |
| Kenda (87)               | *20≈ | Fed  | 0<br>X | ΔM | Ranitidine  | 24 | 52.9  | 54.7  | NS        |
|                          |      |      |        |    | Cimelidine  | 24 | 52.9  | 53.1  | NS        |
|                          |      |      |        |    | Famoti Jine | 24 | 52.9  | 56.3  | NS        |
| Seitz (88)               | 0.80 | Fed  | 0<br>X | Σ  | Ranitidire  | œ  | 73    | 75.5  | NS        |
|                          |      |      |        |    | Cimetidine  | œ  | 73    | 98    | p < 0.02  |
| Tanaka 89)               | 0.80 | Fas  | 0<br>× | Σ  | Ranitidine  | ဖ  | 112   | 110   | NS        |
|                          |      |      |        |    | Cimetidin∍  | 9  | 112   | 11    | NS        |
| Webster <sup>(90)</sup>  | 0.7  | Fas  | 0<br>X | Σ  | Ranitidine  | 7  | 116   | 148   | p < 0.05  |
|                          |      |      |        |    | Cimetidine  | 7  | 116   | 136   | p < 0.05  |
|                          |      |      |        |    |             |    |       |       |           |

TABLE 1 cont.

| Ref  | Dose | Dose Men    | Trial | Time Drug | Drug                                   | (u)  | Control   | Treated Sig | Sig   |
|--|------|-------------|-------|-----------|--|------|-----------|-------------|-------|
| Norpoth <sup>(91)</sup><br>Johnson <sup>(92)</sup> | 4.1. | Fast<br>Fed | o x   | ≥ ш       | Ranitidine<br>Cimetidine<br>Cimelidine | 8 12 | A A A 110 | A A 6       | S S S |

blood alcohol concentration derived from figure

dose of alcohol was fixed and not given per weight (estimated for 70 kg person)

X D = crossover

S = sequential (individuals baseline alcohol study compared with a second study after drug treatment) PG = parellel groups (including placebo study)

M = mo ming dosing: MD = midday E = ev ming

Carini 69/ studied duodenal ulcer patients without H. pylovi Brown /59/ studied patients with dyspepsia; Hotzmann 773/ studied volunteers after 3 weeks of regular a conol in ake on two different days could be non-reproducible data. It is important to randomise *after* any selection process to avoid any order effect and "regression to the mean" effects. It is questionable to exclude any volunteers if these studies are to be applied to the population as a whole.

# 5.2 Higher dose studies (0.5-1.5 g/kg of alcohol)

The complete list of clinical studies is given in Table 1 /59-92/. The data for high-dose studies (0.5-1.5 g/kg of ethanol) are easier to consider as there is a clear negative conclusion despite the variety of study designs. The great majority of studies assessing the effects of ranitidine, cimetidine and famotidine on high-dose ethanol absorption do not show any interaction. One study with ranitidine /90/, four studies with cimetidine /83,85,88,90/ and one study with nizatidine /85/ have reported an increase in blood alcohol concentration. These positive studies have been with small numbers of subjects. All studies with larger numbers (greater than 15 subjects) have been negative. Two of the positive studies had very high blood alcohol concentrations (one study used breathanalysers to measure alcohol concentration /90/) which are above the maximum concentration that could be achieved with the dose of alcohol given assuming complete absorption /83,90/. These studies must therefore be considered suspect.

# 5.3 Low dose studies (0.15-0.3 g/kg of alcohol)

The data suggesting a decreasing first pass metabolism with increasing doses of alcohol would imply that if there was a significant interaction involving H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists, this would occur at low doses of alcohol /93/. A significant interaction between H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists and low-dose alcohol (0.15 g/kg) given after breakfast was first reported by Caballeria et al. /62/. The mean peak blood ethanol concentration increased from 6 mg/dl to 10 mg/dl. Three studies from the same centre with ethanol 0.3 g/kg also showed an increase in blood alcohol concentrations after cimetidine and ranitidine /68,70, 75/. Several other centres have attempted to confirm these results and almost all studies have shown no effect of H<sub>2</sub>-antagonists on ethanol given at a dose of 0.3 g/kg (with either identical protocols or varying situations). It is difficult to explain the discrepancy in these results. The concentration and type of alcohol may be important. Lieber and

colleagues have always given alcohol as a 10% v/v solution, stating that alcohol given in lower concentrations may not show the effect. However most studies that have been negative have used a similar protocol. The obvious conclusion is that there is no effect at a dose of 0.3 g/kg of alcohol.

The data would appear to be different at the very low dose of 0.15 g/kg of alcohol. Seven studies at 0.15 g/kg of ethanol have shown a statistically significant effect but the magnitude of the effect on peak ethanol concentrations is so small as to be insignificant. Positive studies have been reported for ranitidine /59,61,65,66/, cimetidine /62,67/, famotidine /60/ and nizatidine /66/. This does not seem to correlate with the data from *in vitro* studies of the inhibition of ADH which show significant inhibition for cimetidine only.

Some authors have suggested that the conflicting data are because studies have been performed at different times of the day. Palmer, dosing with 0.15 g/kg of alcohol, found positive results for ranitidine and nizatidine in the morning but negative results for ranitidine and cimetidine when dosing in the evening /66/. Several centres have conducted studies at varying times of day and have not demonstrated any effect of the time of dosing /71,72,75,81/. This question was specifically addressed in a well-designed double-blind, two-way crossover study. Eighteen normal male subjects, who were dosed with ranitidine 300 mg q.i.d. or placebo q.i.d., took ethanol 0.5 g/kg orally one hour after breakfast, lunch or the evening meal on three separate study days. No treatment effect was observed /81/. Despite this convincing negative study using 0.5 g/kg of alcohol, it remains possible that a diurnal variation exists for dosing with 0.15 g/kg of alcohol.

A study of four doses of 0.15 g/kg of alcohol taken over a total period of 135 minutes did show a significant elevation of blood alcohol concentrations after dosing with cimetidine. The mean increase was 11 mg/dl but did demonstrate that this effect could be cumulative with multiple dosing /67/. Further studies in this area are required.

#### 6. PSYCHOMOTOR PERFORMANCE

An important medico-legal issue is the possibility that coadministration of ethanol and H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists may cause a person to be unexpectantly over the legal drinking limits, or equally important, over the blood ethanol concentration at which significant impairment of psychomotor function (and consequently driving skills) may occur. The majority of evidence supports no interaction at doses that would be expected to impair psychomotor skills (above 25 mg/dl) /94/.

It is doubtful whether tests of psychomotor performance are able to distinguish changes resulting from small increments in blood alcohol concentrations /95/. A study of the effect of a meal prior to taking alcohol on 0.15 g/kg alcohol showed no difference between fed and fasted subjects - mean difference in blood alcohol concentration was 7-8 mg/dl which is more than that observed in the H<sub>2</sub>-antagonist studies /96/. Nizatidine has been studied alone and with 0.5 g/kg alcohol. There was no change in a wide range of psychometric variables /97/. High-dose ranitidine 300 mg q.i.d. produced no changes in psychomotor tests after 0.5 g/kg alcohol given in the morning, midday or evening in both fasted and fed subjects. Tests included a line analogue rating scale to assess alertness, digit symbol substitution and a visual search task /81/.

It is important to remember that the peak blood alcohol level for a given individual on a given day cannot be predicted because of the great inter- and intra-individual variability of alcohol absorption and metabolism. Therefore if excellent psychomotor skills are important then one should not take any alcohol!

# 7. WHAT IS THE EXPLANATION FOR THE POSITIVE STUDIES AT 0.15 g/kg OF ALCOHOL

The relationship between ethanol absorption and gastric emptying raises the possibility that the effects of H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists observed at very low doses of alcohol may be due to the acceleration of gastric emptying by these drugs /14,29/. Studies of the effect of H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists on gastric emptying of liquid or solid meals have given conflicted results, perhaps dependent on the different methodologies used and variation in the content of meals /98-101/. Cimetidine and ranitidine have been shown to both increase and decrease the rate of gastric emptying. It is interesting to note that the centre which has been the main protagonist for gastric metabolism of ethanol and the effects of cimetidine and ranitidine has now published data showing

that the observed increase in blood ethanol concentration after ranitidine is due to an increase in gastric emptying /68/.

Ethanol may have a variable effect on gastric emptying dependent on intraluminal ethanol concentration and the pH, osmolarity or volume of gastric juice. These are all factors which may be influenced by anti-secretory treatment. However, an argument against the influence of the anti-secretory action of  $H_2$ -antagonists is the absence of any effect of proton pump inhibitors on alcohol pharmacokinetics /102-107/. An alternative explanation may be changes in hepatic blood flow and/or efficacy of liver ADH activity.

#### 8. CONCLUSION

The conclusion from dosing studies with volunteers is clear. There is a small effect of H<sub>2</sub>-antagonists at the small dose of 0.15 g/kg alcohol. The absolute change in peak levels is very small and would not be expected to cause any additional effect on psychomotor performance. The magnitude of the effect is far less than the effect of taking a meal before alcohol or, indeed, the effect of the type of meal /2,11/. There is no easy explanation for the discrepancy between studies at the higher dose of 0.3 g/kg alcohol. It is prudent to accept that the majority of studies show no effect. At the higher doses there are a few small studies that have shown an effect but larger well conducted studies have shown no effect. There remains a question regarding the cumulative effect of repeated small doses of alcohol which needs further study. This area is the subject of much debate and varying views have been expressed in some summaries of this issue /108-112/.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Jones AW, Jonsson KA. Between subject and within-subject variations in pharmacokinetics of ethanol. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1994; 37: 427-431.
- Fraser AG, Rosalki SB, Gamble GG, Pounder RE. Inter-individual and intraindividual variability of ethanol concentration-time profiles: comparison of ethanol ingestion before or after an evening meal. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1995; 40: 387-392.
- Friel PN, Baer JS, Logan BK. Variability of ethanol absorption and breath concentrations during a large-scale alcohol administration study. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1995; 19: 1055-1060.

- Riley SA, Sutcliffe F, Kim M, Kapas M, Rowland M, Turnberg LA. The influence of gastrointestinal transit on drug absorption in healthy volunteers. Br J Clin Pharmac 1992; 34: 32-39.
- Brophy CM, Moore JG, Christian PE, Egger MJ, Taylor AT. Variability of gastric emptying measurements in man employing standardized radiolabelled meals. Dig Dis Sei 1986; 31: 799-806.
- Jones AW, Jonsson KA. Food-induced lowering of blood-ethanol profiles and increased rate of metabolism immediately after a meal. J Forensic Sci 1994; 39: 1084-1093
- Rogers J, Smith J, Starmer GA, Whilfield JB. Differing effects of carbohydrate, fat and protein on the rate of ethanol metabolism. Alcohol Alcoholism 1987; 22: 345-353.
- Holford NHG. Clinical pharmacokinetics of ethanol. Clin Pharmacokinet 1987; 13: 273-292.
- 9. Lieber CS. Hepatic, metabolic and toxic effects of ethanol: 1991 update. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1991; 15: 573-592.
- Kitson KE. Ethanol and acetaldehyde metabolism: past, present, and future. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1996; 20 (Suppl 8): 82A-92A.
- 11. Wynne HA, Wood P, Herd B et al. The association of age with the activity of alcohol dehydrogenase in human liver. Age Aging 1992; 21: 417-420.
- 12. Asai H, Imaoka S, Kuroki T, Monna T, Funae Y. Microsomal ethanol oxidising system activity by human hepatic cytochrome P450's. J Pharmacol Exp Therap 1996; 277: 1004-1009.
- Song BJ. Ethanol-inducible cytochrome P450 (CYP2E1): biochemistry, molecular biology and clinical relevance: 1996 update. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1996; 20 (Suppl 8): 138A-146A.
- Horowitz M, Maddox A, Harding PE, Maddern GJ. Relationships between gastric emptying of solid and caloric liquid meals and alcohol absorption. Am J Physiol 1987: G291-G298.
- Pikaar NA, Wedel M, Hermus RJJ. Influence of several factors on blood alcohol concentrations after drinking alcohol. Alcohol Alcoholism 1988; 23: 289-297.
- Pfeiffer A, Hogl B, Kaess H. Effect of ethanol ingestion and commonly ingested alcoholic beverages on gastric emptying and gastro-intestinal transit. Clin Investig 1992; 70: 487-491
- Roine RP, Gentry RT, Lim RT Jr, Baraona E, Liber CS. Effect of concentration of ingested ethanol on blood alcohol levels. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1991; 15: 734-738.
- Roine RP, Gentry RT, Lim RT Jr, Heikkonen E, Salaspuro M, Lieber CS. Comparison of blood alcohol concentrations after beer and whiskey. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1993; 17: 709-711.
- 19. Wegener M, Schaffstein J, Digler U et al. Gastrointestinal transit of solid-liquid meal in chronic alcoholics. Dig Dis Sci 1991; 36: 917-923.
- Roine R, Heikkonen E, Salaspuro M. Cisapride enhances alcohol absorption and leads to high blood alcohol levels. Gastroenterology 1992; 102: A507.

- Edelbroek MA, Horowitz M, Wishart JM, Akkermans LM. Effects of erythromycin on gastric emptying, alcohol absorption and small intestinal transit in normal subjects. J Nucl Med. 1993; 34: 582-588.
- Oneta C, Simanowski UA, Martinez M. First pass metabolism is strikingly influenced by the speed of gastric emptying. Gastroenterology 1996; 110: A1287.
- Johnson RD, Horowitz M, Maddox AF, Wishart JM, Shearman DJC. Cigarette smoking and the rate of gastric emptying: effect on alcohol absorption. BMJ 1991; 302: 20-23.
- Hebbard GS, Sun WM, Bochner F, Horowitz M. Pharmacokinetic considerations in gastrointestinal motor disorders. Clin Pharmacokinet 1995; 28: 41-66.
- 25. Caballeria J, Frezza M, Hernandez Munoz R, DiPadova C, Korsten MA, Baraona E, Lieber CS. Gastric origin of the first-pass metabolism of ethanol in humans: effect of gastrectomy. Gastroenterology 1989; 97: 1205-1209.
- Lim RT Jr, Gentry RT, Ito D, Yokoyama H, Baraona E, Lieber CS. First-pass metabolism of ethanol is predominantly gastric. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1993; 17: 1337-1344.
- Julkensen RJ, DiPadova C, Lieber CS. First pass metabolism of ethanol a
  gastrointestinal barrier against systemic toxicity of ethanol. Life Sci 1985; 37:
  567-573.
- 28. Di Padova C, Worner TM, Julkunen RJ, Lieber CS. Effects of fasting and chronic alcohol consumption on the first-pass metabolism of ethanol. Gastroenterology 1987; 92: 1169-1173.
- 29. Ammon E, Schafer C, Hofmann U, Klotz U. Disposition and first-pass metabolism of ethanol in humans is it gastric or hepatic and does it depend on gender? Clin Pharmacol Ther 1996; 59: 503-513.
- 30. Levitt MD. Antagonist: the case against first-pass metabolism of ethanol in the stomach. J Lab Clin Med 1994; 123: 28-31.
- 31. Gentry RT, Baraona E, Lieber CS. Agonist: gastric first pass metabolism of alcohol. J Lab Clin Med 1994; 123: 21-26.
- 32. Saint-Blanquet G, Fritisch P, Deranche R. Alcohol dehydrogenase activity of the gastric mucosa following administration of alcohol to the rat. Pathol Biol 1972; 20: 249.
- 33. Lamboeuf Y, De Saint-Blanquent G, Deranche R. Mucosal alcohol dehydrogenase and aldehyde dehydrogenase mediated ethanol oxidation in the digestive tract of the rat. BiochemPharmacol 1981; 30: 542-545.
- 34. Yin S-J, Wang M-F, Liao C-S, Chen C-M, Wu C-W. Identification of a human stomach alcohol dehydrogenase with distinctive kinetic properties. Biochem Int 1990; 22: 829-835.
- 35. Pares X, Moreno A, Cederlund E, Hoog J-O, Jornvall J. Class IV mammalian alcohol dehydrogenase: structural data of the rat stomach enzyme reveal a new class well separated from those already characterised. FEBS Lett 1990; 277: 115-118.
- 36. Moreno A, Pares X. Purification and characterisation of a new alcohol dehydrogenase from human stomach. J Biol Chem 1991; 266: 1128-1133.

- 37. Barona E, Yokoyama A, Ishii H, et al. Lack of alcohol dehydrogenase isoenzymes in the stomach of Japanese subjects. Life Sci 1991; 49: 1929-1234.
- 38. Dohmen K, Baraona E, Ishibadsshi H, et al. Ethnic differences in gastric sigma alcohol dehydrogenase activity and first pass metabolism. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1996; 20: 1569-1576.
- Kawashima O, Yamauchi M, Maezawa Y, Toda G. Effects of cimetidine on blood ethanol levels after alcohol ingestion and genetic polymorphisms of sigma-alcohol dehydrogenase in Japanese. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1996; 20 (1 Suppl S): A36-A39.
- Seitz HK, Simanowski UA, Waldherr R, et al. Human gastric alcohol dehydrogenase activity: effect of age, sex and alcoholism. Gut 1993; 34: 1433-1437.
- 41. Moreno A, Pares A, Ortiz J, Pares X. Alcohol dehydrogenase from the human stomach: variability in normal mucosa and effect of age, gender, ADH3 phenotype and gastric region. Alcohol Alcoholism 1194; 29: 663-668.
- Frezza M, di Padova C, Pozzato G, Terpin M, Baraona E, Lieber CS. High blood alcohol levels in women. The role of decreased gastric alcohol dehydrogenase activity and first-pass metabolism. N Engl J Med 1990; 322: 95-99.
- 43. Thomasson HR. Gender differences in alcohol metabolism. Physiological responses to ethanol. Recent Dev Alcohol 1995; 12: 163-179.
- 44. Seitz H, Poschl G. The role of gastrointestinal factors in alcohol metabolism. Alcohol Alcoholism 1997: 32: 543-549.
- 45. Brown AS, Fiatarone JR, Wood P, et al. The effect of gastritis on human gastric alcohol dehydrogenase activity and ethanol metabolism. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 1995; 9: 57-61.
- 46. Pedrosa MC, Russell RM, Saltzman JR, et al. Gastric emptying and first pass metabolism of ethanol in elderly subjects with and without atrophic gastritis. Scand J Gastroenterol 1996; 31: 671-677.
- Salmela KS, Salaspuro M, Gentry RT, Methuen T, Hook-Niksnne J, Kosunen TU. Helicobacter infection and gastric alcohol metabolism. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1994; 18: 1294-1299.
- 48. Campbell S, Fletcher A, Graham EC, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* eradication increases gastric alcohol dehydrogenase activity but does not affect ethanol first pass metabolism. Gastroenterology 1998; 114: A84.
- 49. Pares X, Farres J. Alcohol and aldehyde dehydrogenases in the gastrointestinal tract. In: Preedy, VR, Watson RR, eds. Alcohol and the Gastrointestinal Tract. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 1996; 41-56.
- Smith T, DeMaster EG, Furne JK, Springfield J, Levitt MD. First-pass gastric mucosal metabolism of ethanol is negligible in the rat. J Clin Invest 1992; 89: 1801-1806.
- 51. Levitt MD, Levitt DG. The critical role of the rate of ethanol absorption in the interpretation of studies purporting to demonstrate gastric metabolism of ethanol. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1994; 269: 297-304.

- 52. Pastino GM, Sultatos LG, Flynn EJ. Development and application of a physiologically based pharmacokinetic model for ethanol in the mouse. Alcohol Alcoholism 1996; 31: 365-374.
- 53. Byrne AJ, McNeil JJ, Harrison PM, et al. Stable oral availability of sustained release propranolol when co-administered with hydralazine or food: evidence implicating substrate delivery rates as a determinant of pre-systemic drug interactions. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1984; 17: 45S-50S.
- Hahn RG, Norberg A, Gabrielsson J, Danielsson A, Jones AW. Eating a meal increases the clearance of ethanol given by intravenous infusion. Alcohol Alcoholism 1994; 29: 673-677.
- 55. Hernadez-Munoz R, Caballeria J, Baraona E, Uppal R, Greenstein R, Lieber CS. Human gastric alcohol dehydrogenase: its inhibition by H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists, and its effect on the bioavailability of ethanol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1990; 14: 946-950.
- 56. Caballeria J, Baraona E, Deulofeu R, Hernandez-Munoz R, Rodes J, Lieber CS. Effects of H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists on gastric alcohol dehydrogenase activity. Dig Dis Sei 1991; 36: 1673-1679.
- 57. Mallat A, Roudot-Thoraval F, Bergmann J-F, et al. Inhibition of gastric alcohol dehydrogenase activity by histamine H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists has no influence on the pharmacokinetics of ethanol after a moderate dose. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1994; 37: 208-211.
- Haber PS, Gentry T, Mak KM, Mirmiran-Yazdy SA, Greestein RJ, Lieber CS. Metabolism of alcohol by human gastric cells: relation to first pass metabolism. Gastroenterology 1996: 111: 863-870.
- 59. Brown AS, Fiaterone JR, Day CP, Bennett MK, Kelly PJ, James OF. Ranitidine increases the bioavailability of postprandial ethanol by the reduction of first pass metabolism. Gut 1995; 37: 413-417.
- Burnham DB, Miller D, Karlstadt R, Friedman CJ, Palmer RH. Famotidine increases plasma alcohol concentration in healthy subjects. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 1994; 8: 55-61.
- 61. Bye A, Lacey LF, Gupta S, et al. Effect of ranitidine hydrochloride (150 mg twice daily) on the pharmacokinetics of increasing doses of ethanol (0.15, 0.3, 0.6 g.kg<sup>-1</sup>). Br J Clin Pharmacol 1996; 41: 129-133.
- 62. Caballeria J, Baraona E, Rodamilans M, Lieber CS. Effects of cimetidine on gastric alcohol dehydrogenase activity and blood ethanol levels. Gastroenterology 1989; 96: 388-392.
- Clemmesen JO, Ott P, Sestoft L. The effect of cimetidine on ethanol concentrations in fasting women and men after two different doses of alcohol. Scand J Gastroenterol 1997; 32: 217-220.
- Cook MD, Cold JA, Strom JG. Effect of cimetidine on the pharmacokinetics of alcohol in social and chronic drinkers. Drug Invest 1994; 7: 84-92.
- Fraser AG, Hudson M, Sawyerr AM, Rosalki SB, Pounder RE. The effect of ranitidine on the post-prandial absorption of a low dose of alcohol. Aliment Pharmacol Therap 1992; 6: 267-271.

- 66. Palmer RH, Frank WO, Nambi P, Wetherington JD, Fox MJ. Effects of various concomitant medications on gastric alcohol dehydrogenase and the first-pass metabolism of ethanol. Am J Gastroenterol 1991; 86: 1749-1755.
- 67. Gupta AM, Baraona E, Lieber CS. Significant increase of blood alcohol by cimetidine after repetitive drinking of small alcohol doses. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1995; 19: 1083-1087.
- Amir I, Anwar N, Baraona E, et al. Ranitidine increases the bioavailability of imbibed alcohol by accelerating gastric emptying. Life Sci 1996; 58: 511-518.
- 69. Casini A, Pizzigallo AM, Mari F, et al. Prolonged bedtime treatment with H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists (ranitidine and famotidine) does not affect blood alcohol levels after ethanol ingestion in male patients with duodenal ulcer. Am J Gastroenterol 1994; 89: 745-749.
- DiPadova C, Roine R, Frezza M, Gentry RT, Baraona E, Lieber CS. Effects of ranitidine on blood alcohol levels after ethanol ingestion. Comparison with other H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists. JAMA 1992; 267: 83-86.
- 71. Fraser AG, Prewett EJ, Hudson M, et al. The effect of ranitidine, cimetidine or famotidine on low-dose post-prandial alcohol absorption. Aliment Pharmacol Therap 1991; 5: 263-272.
- Fraser AG, Sawyerr AM, Hudson M, Smith M, Pounder RE. The effect of ranitidine on post-breakfast alcohol absorption. Am J Gastroenterol 1993; 88: 217-221.
- 73. Holtzman JL, Gebhard RL, Eckfeldt JH, Mottonen LR, Finly DK, Eshelman FN. The effects of several weeks of ethanol consumption on ethanol kinetics in normal men and women. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1985; 38: 157-163.
- Raufman JP, Notar-Francesco V, Rasffaniello RD. Histamine<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists and serum ethanol levels. Ann Int Med 1993; 119: 953-955.
- Sharma R, Gentry T, Lim RT Jr. First-pass metabolism of alcohol: absence of diurnal variation and its inhibition by cimetidine after evening meal. Dig Dis Sei 1995; 40: 2091-2097.
- Teyssen S, Chari ST, Singer MV. Effect of a 28-day therapy with the H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonist famotidine on blood levels of alcohol and gastrin in healthy human subjects. Gut 1994; 35 (Suppl 4): 83.
- Brown AS, James OFW. Cimetidine, ranitidine and omeprazole have no effect on peak blood ethanol concentration, first pass metabolism or area under the time/ethanol curve under real life conditions. Aliment Pharmacol Therap 1998; 12: 141-145.
- Dauncey H, Chesher GB, Palmer RH. Cimetidine and ranitidine. Lack of effect on the pharmacokinetics of an acute ethanol dose. J Clin Gastroenterol 1993; 17: 189-194.
- Fraser AG, Prewett EJ, Hudson M, Sawyerr AM, Rosalki SB, Pounder RE. Ranitidine has no effect on post-prandial absorption of alcohol (0.6 g/kg) after an evening meal. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1992; 4: 43-48.
- 80. Kleine MW, Erlt D. Comparative trial in volunteers to investigate possible ethanol-ranitidine interaction. Ann Pharmacother 1993; 27: 841-845.

- Toon S, Khan AZ, Holt BI, et al. Absence of effect of ranitidine on blood alcohol concentrations when taken morning, midday, or evening with or without food. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1994: 55: 385-391.
- 82. Dobrilla G, de Pretis G, Piazzi L, Chilovi F, Comberlato M, Valentini M, Pastorino A, Vallaperta P. Is ethanol metabolism affected by oral administration of cimetidine and ranitidine at therapeutic doses? Hepatogastroenterology 1984; 31: 35-37.
- 83. Feely J, Wood AJ. Effects of cimetidine on the elimination of ethanol. JAMA 1982: 247: 2819-2821.
- 84. Fraser AG, Hudson M, Sawyer AM, Smith M, Rosalki SB, Pounder RE. Ranitidine, cimetidine, famotidine have no effect on post-prandial absorption of ethanol 0.8 g/kg taken after an evening meal. Aliment Pharmacol Therap 1992; 6: 693-700.
- Guram M, Howden CW, Holt S. Further evidence for an interaction between alcohol and certain H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1991; 15: 1084-1085.
- 86. Jonsson KA, Jones AW, Bostrom H, Andersson T. Lack of effect of omeprazole, and ranitidine on the pharmacokinetics of ethanol in fasting male volunteers. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1990; 42: 209-212.
- 87. Kendall MJ, Spannuth F, Walt RP, et al. Lack of effect of H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists on the pharmacokinetics of alcohol consumed after food at lunchtime. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1994; 37: 371-374.
- 88. Seitz HK, Veith S, Czygan P, Bosche J, Simon B, Gugler R, Kommerell B. In vivo interactions between H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists and ethanol metabolism in man and in rats. Hepatology 1984; 4: 1231-1234.
- 89. Tanaka E, Nakamura K. Effects of H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists on ethanol metabolism in Japanese volunteers. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1988; 26: 96-99.
- 90. Webster LK, Jones DB, Smallwood RA. Influence of cimetidine and ranitidine on ethanol pharmacokinetics. Aust N Z J Med 1985; 15: 359-360.
- 91. Norpoth T, Kneip M, Oehmichen M, Staak M, Iffland R, Kaferstein H. The effect of the administration H<sub>2</sub>-receptor blockers on alcohol kinetics and psycophysical fitness. Beitr Gesch Med 1986; 44: 1-4.
- 92. Johnson KI, Fenzl E, Hein B. Influence of cimetidine on the elimination and effects of alcohol. Arzneim Forsch Drug Res 1984; 34: 734-736.
- 93. Gupta SK, Ellinwood EH, Muir KT, et al. Ethanol pharmacodynamics at low blood concentrations. Am J Ther 1996; 3: 375-382.
- Dunbar JA, Pentilla A, Pikkarainen J. Drinking and driving; choosing the legal limits. Br Med J 1987; 95: 1458-1460.
- 95. Moskowitz H, Burns MM, Williams AF. Skills performance at low blood alcohol levels. J Stud Alcohol 1985; 86: 482-485.
- 96. Millar K, Hammersley H, Finnigan F. Reduction of alcohol-induced performance impairment by prior ingestion of food. Br J Psychol 1992; 83: 261-278.
- 97. Hindmarch I, Gilburt S. The lack of CNS effects of nizatidine, with and without alcohol, on psychomotor ability and cognitive function. Hum Psychopharmacol 1990; 5: 25-32.

- 98. Houghton LA, Read NW. A comparative study of the effect of cimetidine and ranitidine on the rate of gastric emptying of liquid and solid test meals in man. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 1987: 1: 401-408.
- Kerrigan DD, Mangnall YF, Read NW, Johnson AG. Influence of acid-pepsin secretion on gastric emptying of solids in humans: studies with cimetidine. Gut 1991; 32: 1295-1297.
- 100. Ohira Y, Hanyu N, Hashimoto Y, Iikura M, Fukuda S. Effects of various histamine-2 receptor antagonists on gastrointestinal motility and gastric emptying. J Smooth Muscle Res 1993; 29: 131-134.
- 101. Mushambi MC, Trotter TN, Barker TN, Rowbotham DJ. A comparison of gastric emptying after cimetidine and ranitidine measured by applied potential tomography. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1992; 34: 278-280.
- 102. Pozzato G, Franzin F, Moretti M, et al. Effects of omeprazole on ethanol metabolism: an in vitro and in vivo rat and human study. Pharmacol Res 1994; 29: 47-58.
- 103. Rahal PS, Rahal SK, Katragadda R, et al. Effect of omeprazole on blood ethanol kinetics. Clin Res 1994; 42: 241A.
- 104. Roine R, Hernandez-Munoz R, Baraona E, et al. Effect of omeprazole on gastric first-pass metabolism of ethanol. Dig Dis Sci 1992; 37: 891-896.
- 105. Minocha A, Singh Rahal P, Brier ME, et al. Omeprazole therapy does not affect pharmacokinetics of orally administered ethanol in healthy male subjects. J Clin Gastroenterol 1995; 21: 107-109.
- 106. Girre C, Coutelle C, David P, et al. Lack of effect of lansoprazole on the pharmacokinetics of ethanol in male volunteers. Gastroenterology 1994; 106 (Suppl): 504.
- Teyssen S, Singer MV, Heinze H, et al. Pantoprazole does not influence the pharmacokinetics of ethanol in healthy volunteers. Gastroenterology 1996: 110 (Suppl): 277.
- 108. Palmer RH. Cimetidine and alcohol. Drug Invest 1994: 8: 63-65.
- Levitt MD. Review article: lack of clinical significance of the interaction between H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists and ethanol. Aliment Pharmacol Therap 1993; 7: 131-138.
- Gugler R. H<sub>2</sub>-antagonists and alcohol: do they interact? Drug Safety 1994; 10: 271-280.
- 111. Pipkin GA, Mills JG, Woods JR. Does ranitidine affect blood alcohol concentrations? Pharmacotherapy 1994; 14: 273-281.
- 112. Koppa SD. H<sub>2</sub> antagonists and alcohol: none for the road? Drug Therapy 1993; 23: 52-54.